RECEIVED

Apr 17 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel Hall, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-46-00310  
Appellate Case No: 2019-000979

Ex Parte, Ryan Powell, ..... Appellant,

In re LB PARK, LLC, ..... Respondent,

v.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err by refusing to hear and determine Appellant's "*Special Appearance Motion to Dismiss or Intervene*" until Appellant gave his consent to be under the authority of judge Hall?
2. Did the trial court err by refusing to dismiss the case for want of the subject matter jurisdiction needed to clear a void tax title, for a plaintiff that does not have a tax title, issued against land that has never been subjected to the jurisdiction of this State by its owner?
3. Does this State have territorial jurisdiction over Appellant's land?
4. Did the trial court abuse its discretion when it denied intervention to Appellant who is the actual owner of the land in dispute and is therefore a necessary and indispensable party, especially since there is no defendant in the action?
5. Did the trial court err by granting Respondent LB PARK'S motion to refer the case to a master-in-equity when the court is wanting subject matter jurisdiction to proceed and Appellant's rights to a jury trial were disregarded?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **Nature of the Case**

This case presents multiple novel issues of law. The plaintiff, Respondent LB PARK LLC ("LB PARK" hereinafter), requested the trial court clear a tax title but LB PARK admits in its complaint that it has a quitclaim deed, not a tax title. The tax title that LB PARK's quitclaim deed derives from, that it wants cleared, was issued in December 2018 against land that has been owned by Appellant since December of 2012 ("Owner's Private Property" hereinafter). The tax title was issued in the name of the previous owner of Owner's Private Property making it void *ab initio* and unenforceable. Owner has not been named as a party in this case even though he is the actual owner of the land at issue. Owner attempted to intervene in the action but was denied intervention. The trial court also denied dismissing the case for want of subject matter jurisdiction and then ordered the case referred to a Master-in-Equity.

## **Pertinent Facts**

Appellant, Ryan Powell ("Owner" hereinafter), bought the land that is the subject-matter of this action almost seven years ago in December of 2012 from a private business trust named San Juan Holdings ("SJH" hereinafter) [ROA, pgs 46-48]. After SJH sold its "res" to Owner, SJH's purpose of protecting that property had been fulfilled so SJH ceased to exist as a legal entity [ROA, pg 49].

Owner chose to not record his deed [ROA, pgs 46-48] as there is no law, code, statute, ordinance, regulation, or contract that requires him to do so and he has a recognized right to own his property privately and alone (i.e., unrecorded) versus owning his property publicly and in association with others (i.e., recorded). Having not recorded his deed, Owner has never been assessed with any *ad valorem* property taxes.

Owner spent approximately five years trying to get YORK COUNTY to remove Owner's Private Property from their tax rolls. Owner gave YORK COUNTY notice of the sale of SJH's property [ROA, pg 49], but YORK COUNTY ignored that notice. During November of 2017, YORK COUNTY sold the rights to Owner's Private Property but did so in the name of SJH [ROA, pg 10, #10]. On December 26, 2018 YORK COUNTY, issued a tax title granting Owner's Private Property to SB MUNI CUST % LBSC-11 LLC [ROA, pg 10, #10]. On January 7, 2019 SB MUNI CUST % LBSC-11 LLC quitclaimed its non-existent rights to Owner's Private Property to plaintiff, LB PARK [ROA, pg 10, #11].

## **Course of Proceedings**

On January 25, 2019 LB PARK filed this action [ROA, pg 8, #1]. On February 6, 2019 LB PARK served this action on Brett Osborne [ROA, pg 62] who was the trustee

for SJH when that entity existed. Brett Osborne returned all the court papers served on him to the Clerk of Court of the Court of Common Pleas with a letter stating that he neither had any connection with the property nor any duty to defend the property for over six years so he was the wrong person to have been named and served [ROA, pg 62]. Owner was neither named nor did LB PARK publish its summons to give the unknown parties notice of this action [ROA, pgs all].

On April 8, 2019 Owner filed a *Special Appearance Motion to Dismiss or Intervene* ("Owner's Motion" hereinafter) into the case [ROA, pg 42]. Owner's Motion was based mainly on the allegation that the trial court wants subject matter jurisdiction over the action. Owner's Motion requested intervention be granted to Owner if the trial court found that it did in fact have subject matter jurisdiction [ROA, pg 45]. On May 11, 2019 Owner filed a Memorandum of Law in Support of Owner's Motion in which he demonstrated, in section VI., all the elements required in order to be granted intervention [ROA, pgs 56-57]. LB PARK did not file any opposition to either Owner's Motion or his Memorandum of Law in Support thereof [ROA, pgs all].

On May 30, 2019 [ROA, pg 32, line #1] judge Hall heard Owner's Motion [ROA, pg 33, lines #21-#23]. LB PARK did not orally oppose either Owner's Motion or his Memorandum of Law in Support thereof during that hearing [ROA, pgs 32-40]. LB PARK also did not attempt to fulfill its burden to prove subject-matter jurisdiction exists once Owner raised that as an issue [ROA, pgs all]. Nonetheless, without any opposition, arguments, or grounds raised for denial [ROA, pgs 32-40], judge Hall denied Owner's Motion [ROA, pgs 2-4]. Judge Hall did not articulate any grounds for his denial either orally during the hearing [ROA, pgs 32-40] or in his short form order that was entered on

May 31, 2019 [ROA, pgs 2-4]. Judge Hall also entered an order referring the case to a Master-in-Equity on May 31, 2019 [ROA, pgs 5-7]. Owner received both orders on June 6, 2019. On June 8, 2019, Owner served his notice of appeal on all parties and on the trial court. Owner timely ordered the transcript on June 15, 2019 and it was delivered late to Owner on August 23, 2019.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

"This is an action in equity. ... (holding an action to quiet title is equitable in nature). Therefore, this Court may find facts according to our own view of the preponderance of the evidence. In addition, this appeal presents novel issues of law. In such a circumstance, we are free to decide issues presented to us with no particular deference to the trial court's findings.", Johnson v. Arbabi, 553 SE 2d 453 (SC Court of Appeals 2001) (internal citations omitted).

"(a) legal question in an equity case receives review as in law.' Because questions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the circuit court, this court may correct errors of law in both legal and equitable actions.", North Am Rescue Products v. Richardson, 720 SE 2d 53 (SC Court of Appeals 2011) (internal citations omitted).

"Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, and this Court reviews questions of law de novo.", Catawba Indian Tribe v. State, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007).

### **MANDATORY JUDICIAL NOTICE**

The judges of this Court are directed to take mandatory judicial notice under Rule 201(d) SCRE of the following facts: In 1861, after the U.S. Congress adjourned "*sine die*" (i.e., "without [a] day" to reconvene), President Lincoln was forced to create a new federal government to replace the defunct Constitutionally created federal government. Under the new military, provisional, occupational government, President Lincoln issued the first ever executive order (General Order 100, a.k.a., the Lieber Codes) wherein he declared martial law. General Order 100 states that the declared martial law would only cease under one of the following two conditions: a special proclamation made by the

commander-in-chief; or a special mention in a treaty of peace concluding the civil war<sup>1</sup>. Neither of those two events has ever taken place which means the United States has been under martial law since 1863 despite the fact that no warnings have ever been given to the inhabitants<sup>2</sup>. Martial law affects mainly the police and the collection of public revenue and taxes so the laws of war (i.e., martial law) that are presently in force in this State are specifically applicable to this [tax collection] case<sup>3</sup>.

All of the above is noticed to this Court to demonstrate that under the laws of war, the **outright taking, seizing or confiscating of private property is absolutely prohibited and may not be done under any circumstance**<sup>4,5,6</sup>. As will be demonstrated in this brief, **private property** consists **only** of property that has not been recorded with the Occupying Power (i.e., "this State"), despite popular and unfounded beliefs to the contrary. The Constitution of the State also prohibits these actions but not as clearly as these laws of war do. The codes of this State also do not permit private property to be

---

<sup>1</sup> "Martial law does not cease during the hostile occupation, except by special proclamation, ordered by the commander-in-chief, or by special mention in the treaty of peace concluding the war, when the occupation of a place or territory continues beyond the conclusion of peace as one of the conditions of the same.", General Orders 100 (a.k.a, Lieber Codes, 1863), Section 2.

<sup>2</sup> "A place, district, or country occupied by an enemy stands, in consequence of the occupation, under the martial law of the invading or occupying army, whether any proclamation declaring martial law, or any public warning to the inhabitants, has been issued or not.", General Orders 100 (a.k.a, Lieber Codes, 1863), Section 1.

<sup>3</sup> "Martial law affects chiefly the police and collection of public revenue and taxes", General Orders 100 (a.k.a, Lieber Codes, 1863), Section 10.

<sup>4</sup> "**Private property may not be confiscated.**", HAGUE IV REG. Article 46.

<sup>5</sup> "**Private real (immovable) property may under no circumstances be seized.**", Law of War- 11.18.6.3

<sup>6</sup> "The prohibition against confiscation of private property extends not only to outright taking in violation of the law of war, **but also to any acts that, through the use of threats, intimidation, or pressure, or by actual exploitation of the power of the Occupying Power,** permanently or temporarily deprive the owner of the use of such property without the owner's consent, or without authority under international law", Law of War - 11.18.6.1 Prohibition on Confiscation of Private Property in Occupied Territory.

confiscated, seized, or taken but the codes accomplish that goal by not granting the authority to take those actions instead of by prohibiting those actions. Therefore, the cited laws of war are being noticed to ensure this Court understands that affirming the lower court's decisions will allow this State to outright take Owner's Private Property in violation of the international laws of war as well as in violation of the codes of this State and of the Constitution of the State. The footnoted citations #4, #5, & #6 are direct quotes from the Department of Defense's 2016 "Law of War" document that can be found at the DoD's website - [http://ogc.osd.mil/images/law\\_war\\_manual\\_december\\_16.pdf](http://ogc.osd.mil/images/law_war_manual_december_16.pdf).

### **ARGUMENT**

**I. Did the trial court err by refusing to hear and determine Appellant's "*Special Appearance Motion to Dismiss or Intervene*" until Appellant gave his consent to be under the authority of judge Hall?**

Judge Hall asked Owner only two significant questions during the short 15 minute "hearing" of Owner's Motion. Judge Hall's first question was - "*your name, Sir, your name?*" [ROA, pg 32, line 14 and line 21]. Owner knew that judge Hall was attempting to get Owner to consent to be under his authority using the Uniform Commercial Code ("UCC" hereinafter). Under the UCC, any person who **willingly** gives a name when requested is considered to have consented to be under the authority of the person requesting the name. Owner responded to judge Hall's question by stating that he did not consent to be under judge Hall's authority so he would not be giving a name [ROA, pg 32, lines 22-25 to pg 33, lines 1-2]. Judge Hall responded by saying that if Owner was going to refuse to be under his authority then he was going to refuse to hear Owner's Motion [ROA, pg 33, lines 3-5]. Judge Hall's response conclusively proves that Owner was, and is, correct that it

is the voluntary giving of a name that is presumed to be consent to be under the authority of the person making the request.

Judge Hall lacked authority to refuse to hear Owner's Motion until Owner consented to be under his authority. Once a motion has been filed into a case the judge assigned to the case has a mandatory **ministerial duty**<sup>7, 8</sup> to determine and dispose of the motion<sup>9</sup> and it was also a violation of a judge Hall's Code of Judicial Conduct to refuse to hear a person who has a legal interest in a proceeding<sup>10</sup>. Under the extreme fear, coercion, and duress caused by judge Hall's unlawful refusal to hear and determine Owner's Motion, Owner **objected** and then Owner reluctantly stated his name [ROA, pg 34, line 10].

The giving of a name immediately after Owner specifically objected and stated he did not consent to be under the authority of judge Hall can not be construed as a valid agreement. In order to form a valid agreement, there must be a "*meeting of the minds*" of the parties to the agreement. In other words, all of the parties to the agreement must agree on all of the same things; there must be mutual **assent**. There can be no agreement when one party has the intention to make an agreement, but the other does not.

**Agreement.** "A meeting of two or more minds; ... In law, a concord of understanding and intention between two or more parties with respect to the effect upon their rights and duties, of certain past or future facts or performance", Black's Law Dictionary, 6th ed., pg 67.

---

<sup>7</sup> "the Court could direct a judge to rule on a pending motion because **the act of ruling is ministerial** in nature.", City of Rock Hill v. Thompson, 563 SE 2d 101 (SC Supreme Court 2002).

<sup>8</sup> ministerial duty - "One regarding which nothing is left to discretion - a simple and definite duty, imposed by law", Black's Law Dictionary, 6th ed., pg. 996.

<sup>9</sup> Canon 3(B)(1) Code of Judicial Conduct - "A judge **shall** hear and decide matters assigned to the judge".

<sup>10</sup> Canon 3(B)(7) Code of Judicial Conduct - "A judge **shall** accord to every person who has a legal interest in a proceeding, or that person's lawyer, the right to be heard according to law."

**Assent.** "Compliance; approval of something done; a declaration of willingness to do something in compliance with a request; acquiescence; agreement", Black's Law Dictionary, 6th ed., pg. 115.

Most importantly, Owner came to the hearing of Owner's Motion as a private person making a special appearance and there is no evidence in the record that could refute that status [ROA, pgs all]. The UCC only applies to an artificial "*legal or commercial entity*"<sup>11</sup> and therefore does not apply to a private person, which is in the class of natural persons, who is being forced into a commercial court, without a contractual nexus, against his will, and only to stop his private property from being physically stolen from him.

Judge Hall's use of the UCC to force Owner to "consent" to his authority was an erroneous application of law and an abusive exploitation of power. Also because this is an action in equity<sup>12</sup>, judge Hall's use of threats, duress, coercion, and fear to exert authority over a private person making a special appearance is unfair, unjust, inequitable, and also demonstrates **extreme bias**, which constitutes another violation of judge Hall's Code of Judicial Conduct<sup>13</sup>. Bottom line, it is impossible to speculate how this "agreement" ultimately influenced judge Hall's decisions, if at all.

**II. Did the trial court err by refusing to dismiss the case for want of the subject matter jurisdiction needed to clear a void tax title, for a plaintiff that does not have a tax title, issued against land that has never been subjected to the jurisdiction of this State by its owner?**

---

<sup>11</sup> In this State's version of the Uniform Commercial Code the definition of person found in SC Code of Laws § 36-1-201 (27) is - "'Person" means an individual, corporation, business trust, estate, trust, partnership, limited liability company, association, joint venture, government, governmental subdivision, agency, or instrumentality, public corporation, **or any other legal or commercial entity**."

<sup>12</sup> "An action to clear title to real property is an action in equity", Rosenbaum v. SMS 32, 427 SE 2d 897 (SC Supreme Court 1993)

<sup>13</sup> Canon 3(B)(5) Code of Judicial Conduct - "A judge **shall not**, in the performance of judicial duties, by words or conduct manifest bias or prejudice,"

**A. Does the trial court have subject matter jurisdiction to make any determination pertaining to land that has never been subjected to the jurisdiction of this State by its owner?**

The term subject-matter is defined to mean: "The subject, or matter presented for consideration; **the thing in dispute**; the right which one party claims as against the other", Black's Law Dictionary, 6th ed. pg 1425.

**"jurisdiction is the power to declare law**, and when it ceases to exist, the only function remaining to a court is that of announcing the fact and dismissing the cause.", Limehouse v. Hulsey, 744 SE 2d 566 (SC Supreme Court 2013).

**"In rem** proceedings encompass any action brought against a person in which essential purpose of suit is to determine title to or to affect interests in specific property. ... Actions in which **the court is required to have control of the thing** or object and in which an adjudication is made as to the object which binds the whole world and not simply the interests of the parties to the proceedings.", Black's Law Dictionary, 6th ed. pg 793.

"Jurisdiction *in rem* **depends solely** on the physical control of the *res* by the sovereign exercising jurisdiction." ... "The jurisdiction *in rem* depends upon control of the thing at the time litigation is begun." ... "The jurisdiction of the court to grant such remedy is obviously its **jurisdiction over the *res* and nothing else**", "The Exercise of Jurisdiction *in rem*" Harvard Law Review, VOL. XXVII, December, 1913, internal citations omitted.

According to the above evidence of law, in order for the trial court to have subject-matter jurisdiction over the action it must have the power to declare law as it pertains to the thing, "res", in dispute, that thing being the land defined in this action as "25056 Timberlake Drive, York County, South Carolina". However, that land belongs to Owner and Owner has never subjected his land to the jurisdiction of this State [ROA, pgs 46-48] so the trial court is wanting authority to declare law as it pertains to Owner's land. Further, since the essential purpose of LB PARK'S action is to quiet a tax title to Owner's Private Property, and dispossess anyone living thereon, then its action is an "*in rem*" proceeding and as such the trial court **must have control of the thing**, i.e., Owner's Private Property. The trial court has neither the authority to declare law as it pertains to

Owner's Private Property nor does it have control of Owner's Private Property as will now be proven.

The definition of property shows that only an owner of property has the dominion or jurisdiction (i.e., the ability to speak the law) pertaining to his property which is needed in order for the owner to enjoy **unrestricted** right of use, disposal, and enjoyment. Dominion over any piece of land is obtained, held, and transferred between men (and also between legal fictions) by and through the title/deed to their land.

"Property in a thing consists not merely in its ownership or possession, but in the **unrestricted** right of use, enjoyment and disposal.", SC Dept. Hwys. & Pub. Trans. v. Balcome, 345 SE 2d 762 (SC Ct App 1986).

Ownership - "Ownership of property is either **absolute** or **qualified**. The ownership of property is **absolute** when a single person has absolute dominion over it, and may use it or dispose of it according to his pleasure (i.e. unrecorded private property). The ownership is **qualified** when it is shared with one or more persons, when the time of enjoyment is deferred or limited or when the use is restricted. (i.e., recorded *real estate*)", Black's Law Dictionary, 6th ed., pg. 1106.

Private Property - "As protected from being taken for public uses, is such property as belongs **absolutely to an individual**, (i.e., unrecorded) and of which he has the **exclusive** right of disposition. *Scranton v. Wheeler*, 179 U.S. 141, 21 S.Ct. 48, 45 L.Ed. 126.", Black's Law Dictionary, 6<sup>th</sup> ed., pg. 1217.

"Everyone has a right to own property **alone** (i.e., unrecorded) as well as in association with others" (i.e., recorded), Article 17, "Universal Declaration of Human Rights", an international treaty signed by the United States in 1948 and shortly thereafter ratified making it the law of the land.

As shown in the above definition of "Ownership" it can be **absolute**, when the title has not been recorded, or **qualified**, when the title has been recorded. It follows then that the trial court could never have control over Owner's Private Property since Owner's title/deed has never been recorded so Owner's ownership of his private property is **absolute**, i.e., Owner has absolute dominion over his property. The trial court could only have subject-matter jurisdiction over Owner's Private Property if the ownership of his

land is **qualified**, the title/deed having been recorded, or in other words, when ownership is "*shared with one or more persons*", or "*in association with others*". Accordingly, the trial court does not have subject-matter jurisdiction OR control over Owner's Private Property which is mandatory for any *in rem* action.

But to understand how the recording of a title/deed produces **qualified** ownership one must first understand trust law. For under trust law whenever a person willingly gives any of their property over to another person to hold and protect for them, a resulting (implied) trust is automatically created by operation of law. Accordingly, a resulting trust is automatically created whenever any owner of property (trustor) delivers his deed to the "*XX COUNTY REGISTER OF DEEDS*" (or the "*XX COUNTY CLERK OF COURTS*") to be recorded. The "*XX COUNTY REGISTER OF DEEDS*", becomes the trustee of that resulting trust and has the legal duty to protect that recorded deed (the "*res*" of the trust). Under trust law, a trustee becomes the owner of the "*res*" of the trust. Accordingly, the "*XX COUNTY REGISTER OF DEEDS*" (or the "*XX COUNTY CLERK OF COURT*") becomes the owner of all recorded deeds *in association with* or *shared with* the owner (trustor) who recorded their deed. Employees of an umbrella of privately held companies known collectively as "*XX COUNTY*" have been designated to act as agents for the trustee and have the duty to manage and administer the resulting trusts. Those agents, under the trust's written instrument/indenture (multiple chapters under Title 12 of SC Code of Laws), have the authority to sell the trust's *res* (the recorded deed) if the trustor defaults on paying its contractual obligations (i.e., its debts).

If the agents of the trustee (i.e., employees working for "*XX COUNTY*") sell the trust's *res* (the recorded deed), the tax title purchaser is not put into possession of the "*real estate*"

specified on the tax title **until** that tax title purchaser delivers its tax title to the "*XX COUNTY REGISTER OF DEEDS*" (or the "*XX COUNTY CLERK OF COURT*") to be recorded. See SC Code of Laws § 12-51-130 "*Delivery of the tax title to the clerk of court or register of deeds is considered 'putting the purchaser, or assignee, in possession'*". Once the tax title purchaser/assignee has recorded its tax title, then and only then does the *COUNTY OF XX* become the new/shared owner of the recorded tax title which is required before the *COUNTY OF XX* Circuit Court can obtain subject-matter jurisdiction over the *real estate* specified on the recorded tax title.

The resulting implied trust that is automatically created upon the recording of a deed will **automatically cease to exist** when the purpose of that resulting trust has been fulfilled<sup>14</sup>; the purpose being to protect the recorded deed. So when a recorded deed becomes obsolete, it no longer needs to be protected and the resulting trust collapses (i.e., ceases to exist). In this case, at the moment that the former trustee of SJH signed a new deed transferring SJH's property to Owner, the resulting implied trust that had been automatically created upon the recording of SJH's deed automatically collapsed and subsequently ceased to exist. Thereafter, the employees working for YORK COUNTY no longer had any legal claim or legal authority whatsoever over the land that was described on SJH's recorded deed whether or not those employees knew about the sale of SJH's property or not. However, those employees were given actual notice of the sale of SJH's property which they chose to ignore making every action they took after December 20, 2012 pertaining to Owner's Private Property illegal, unlawful, and in fact criminal under the international laws of war. All of the above demonstrated trust law is well

---

<sup>14</sup> "the trust estate will not be continued beyond the purposes of its creation as set forth in the trust instrument. When these purposes are accomplished, the trust estate ceases to exist", Macaulay v. WACHOVIA BANK OF SC, 508 SE 2d 46 (SC Court of Appeals 1998).

explained in American Jurisprudence (AmJur) Second Edition (2nd), is known to every attorney and is therefore beyond dispute.

In this case, although it is alleged that the trial court has jurisdiction over the subject-matter [ROA, pg 10, #8] the issue of whether the trial court actually has, or does not have, such jurisdiction can only be resolved by determining if SJH was the owner of Owner's Private Property at the time of the tax sale. As will be shown in subparagraph **II.D** below, the preponderance (i.e., all) of the evidence in the record made shows that the land that is the subject-matter of this action was NOT owned by SJH for over five (5) years prior to the illegal tax sale. Since Owner's deed was not recorded then he remains the **absolute** owner of his land and his land is therefore under the **exclusive jurisdiction** of Owner.

**B. Does the plaintiff have any rights to the land in dispute that could be used to invoke the trial court's subject matter jurisdiction?**

The term subject-matter is defined to mean: "*The subject, or matter presented for consideration; the thing in dispute; **the right which one party claims as against the other***", Black's Law Dictionary, 6th ed. pg. 1425.

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