**RECEIVED**

**May 12 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel Hall, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2019-CP-46-00310  
Appellate Case No. 2019-000979

---

Ex Parte, Ryan Powell .....Appellant,

In re LB PARK, LLC .....Respondent,

v.

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Was this appeal from the denial of a motion to intervene in an action to quiet tax title made moot when this Court granted LB PARK's motion to remand this case to the circuit court for dismissal without prejudice and refile as a new action naming Ryan Powell as a defendant?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE & FACTS

On January 25, 2019, LB PARK, LLC (“LB Park”) filed this action pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 12-61-10 to -60 for the purpose of quieting tax title to real property known as 25056 Timberlake Drive, York County, South Carolina, tax map number 643-10-01-023 (the “Property”). (R. at 8-31). On April 8, 2019, Appellant Ryan Powell (“Powell”), a non-party to this action, filed a motion to dismiss or intervene. (R. at 42-49). On May 1, 2019, LB Park filed a motion for an order of reference. (Supp. R. at 1-2). Both motions were heard on May 30, 2019.

The circuit court denied the motion to dismiss and granted the motion for order of reference in separate orders filed May 31, 2019. (R. at 2-4, 5-7). These are the orders referenced in Powell’s Notice of Appeal. (6/8/2019 Notice of Appeal).

LB Park filed a motion to dismiss the appeal on the grounds that denial of a motion to dismiss is not appealable and that the order of reference did not deprive Powell of a mode of trial to which he was entitled because there is no right to a jury trial in actions to quiet tax title, even if the defendant asserts a counterclaim stating a cause of action at law as set forth in *Rosenbaum v. S-M-S* 32, 311 S.C. 140, 427 S.E.2d 897 (1993). (6/17/2019 Motion to Dismiss). Powell responded in part that the appeal should not be dismissed unless and until he was made a party to this action. (8/22/2019 Return to Motion to Dismiss at 7 (“Relief requested: The named defendants must be dropped and Appellant must be added as a party and this appeal **THEN and ONLY THEN** can be dismissed and the case remanded back to the trial court under the just terms decided by this Court.”)).

This Court denied the motion to dismiss as follows:

After careful consideration, the motion to dismiss is denied. *See Ex parte Johnson*, 63 S.C. 205, 41 S.E. 308 (1902) (establishing an order refusing a petition to be made a party to an action is immediately). Furthermore, Appellant's motion requesting this court to strike Respondent's motion to dismiss, to substitute parties, and for sanctions is denied.

(7/31/2019 Order). Upon receipt of this order, LB Park moved for a remand to the circuit court “to dismiss the underlying action without prejudice pursuant to Rule 41(a), SCRC. If the motion for remand is granted, LB PARK will dismiss the underlying action and refile a new action to include Ryan Powell as a named defendant.” (8/13/2019 Motion for Remand). LB Park attached its proposed stipulation of dismissal and proposed new complaint to the motion for remand. (*Id.*).

This Court granted the motion for remand by order dated October 15, 2019. (10/15/2019 Order). Pursuant to that order, this appeal was “held in abeyance pending the lower court’s consideration of the motion.” Powell filed a petition for rehearing (10/25/2019 Petition), which this Court declined to consider (2/10/2019 Order).

LB Park filed its dismissal on February 12, 2020 (R. at 60-61). It then filed a new action naming Powell as a defendant, C/A # 2020-CP-46-549 (“2020 Case”). Each of these filings was in substantially the same form as those proposed in the attachments to the motion for remand.

Powell filed a motion to revive the appeal on April 20, 2020. (4/20/2020 Motion to Revive Appeal). This Court denied the motion and ordered that this appeal be held in abeyance pending the issuance of a final order in the 2020 Case. (5/20/2020 Order). By letter dated December 13, 2022, this Court advised that this matter would no longer be held in abeyance. (12/13/2022 Letter).

## ARGUMENT<sup>1</sup>

### **I. This appeal is moot.**

The underlying action was dismissed before any ruling on the merits of any claim or defense. As a result, there is nothing left to resolve with respect to Powell's request to intervene.

Courts are not in the business of issuing advisory opinions. *In Int. of Kaundra C.*, 318 S.C. 484, 486, 458 S.E.2d 443, 444 (Ct. App. 1995); *Booth v. Grissom*, 265 S.C. 190, 192, 217 S.E.2d 223, 224 (1975). "South Carolina courts, like the federal courts, require a justiciable case or controversy before any decision on the merits can be reached." *Lennon v. S.C. Coastal Council*, 330 S.C. 414, 417–18, 498 S.E.2d 906, 908 (Ct. App. 1998). "A justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy which is ripe and appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a contingent, hypothetical or abstract dispute." *Peoples Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n of S.C. v. Res. Plan. Corp.*, 358 S.C. 460, 477, 596 S.E.2d 51, 60 (2004) (internal citations omitted); *see Wallace v. City of York*, 276 S.C. 693, 694, 281 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1981) (holding the function of a court is "to decide actual controversies injuriously affecting the rights of some party to the litigation.").

"A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon existing controversy." *Leventis v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*, 340 S.C. 118, 137–38, 530 S.E.2d 643, 654 (Ct. App. 2000) (quoting *Mathis v. S.C. State Highway Dep't*, 260 S.C. 344, 346, 195 S.E.2d 713, 715 (1973)). Here, the dismissal of the underlying action means that there

---

<sup>1</sup> Concurrent with this brief, LB Park filed a motion to consolidate this appeal with the appeal pending in the 2020 Case (Appellate Case No. 2022-001650). Pursuant to Rule 208, SCACR, LB Park adopts by reference its brief in that action.

is no existing controversy for purposes of this appeal, and a ruling on the motion to intervene would have no effect.<sup>2</sup>

Moreover, as a practical matter, Powell received the relief he sought with respect to the motion to intervene—he was made a party to LB Park’s action to quiet tax title. Therefore, this appeal should be dismissed.

**II. The only immediately appealable issue in the orders on appeal was whether Powell should have been permitted to intervene. The Court should decline to consider any other issues.**

“The right of appeal arises from and is controlled by statutory law.” *N.C. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. Twin States Dev. Corp.*, 289 S.C. 480, 481, 347 S.E.2d 97, 97 (1986). Appealability is generally governed by S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330, and interlocutory orders are otherwise not immediately appealable. *See, e.g., Flagstar Corp. v. Royal Surplus Lines*, 341 S.C. 68, 533 S.E.2d 331 (2000); *Senter v. Piggly Wiggly Carolina Co.*, 341 S.C. 74, 533 S.E.2d 575 (2000); *Breland v. Love Chevrolet Olds, Inc.*, 339 S.C. 89, 529 S.E.2d 11 (2000). In this case, the only issue that the Court found to be immediately appealable was that of intervention. (7/31/2019 Order).

The order of reference and the denial of the motion to dismiss are not appealable rulings under any of the categories provided in S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330. (R. at 2-4, 5-7). Generally, the denial of a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) is not immediately appealable. *Huntley v. Young*, 319 S.C. 559, 462 S.E.2d 860 (1995); *McLendon v. S.C. Dep’t of Highways & Pub. Transp.*, 313 S.C. 525, 443 S.E.2d 539 (1994); *Moyd v. Johnson*, 289 S.C. 482, 347 S.E.2d 97 (1986). Nothing about the denial here should trigger any exception to this rule.

---

<sup>2</sup> All of Powell’s arguments on appeal were rendered moot by the dismissal. The dismissal without prejudice prior to any adjudication on the merits did not result in any prejudice to any party. As shown in Powell’s brief in the appeal of the 2020 Case, Powell continues to assert arguments relating to jurisdiction over the Property, referral to the Master, and LB Park’s title.

With respect to the order of reference, the order does not deprive Powell of any mode of trial to which he might otherwise be entitled. “Ordinarily the granting or refusal of an order of reference is not appealable unless the granting of the reference deprives a party of a mode of trial to which he is entitled by law, or the trial judge in refusing a reference did so upon the erroneous belief that the cause of action was a legal one.” *Williford v. Downs*, 265 S.C. 319, 321, 218 S.E.2d 242, 243 (1975). “Hence, the issue before the Court is whether the appellant is entitled to a jury trial as a matter of right. If [h]e is not, the appeal should be dismissed.” *Id.*

In actions to quiet tax title, the South Carolina Supreme Court has made it clear that there is no right to a jury trial, even if the defendant asserts a counterclaim stating a cause of action at law. *Rosenbaum v. S-M-S* 32, 311 S.C. 140, 427 S.E.2d 897 (1993). As stated there:

Considering the unique circumstances existing in a tax forfeiture acquisition, and the prevailing statutory provisions governing suits to clear tax titles, we conclude that the appellant may not evade the intent of the legislature and obtain the right to a jury trial by interposing a counterclaim designed to thwart the reasonable and practical implication of Chapter 61.

*Id.* Additionally, an action concerning the validity of a tax sale is an action in equity. *Johnson v. Arbabi*, 355 S.C. 64, 69, 584 S.E.2d 113, 115 (2003) (citing *Bryan v. Freeman*, 253 S.C. 50, 52, 168 S.E.2d 793, 793–94 (1969) (“An action to remove a cloud on and quiet title to land is one in equity.”)); *see also Godfrey v. Webb*, 277 S.C. 246, 247, 285 S.E.2d 883, 884 (1982) (holding that an action to set aside a tax deed and an action to confirm the same tax sale were both actions in equity); *Cathcart v. Jennings*, 137 S.C. 450, 135 S.E. 558, 562 (1926) (“[A] court of equity has jurisdiction to remove a cloud upon title.”) (internal citations omitted). As such, the order granting the motion for reference is not immediately appealable.

**CONCLUSION**

For these reasons, this appeal should be dismissed at this time and the Court should decline to consider any of Powell's arguments on the merits. To the extent the Court is inclined to reach any issue on the merits, LB Park rests on its briefing in the 2020 Case.